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2014 Letter to Shareholders

2014 was an important year for your Company. As you may recall, in 2013 we 
overcame the impact of many macroeconomic challenges resulting in volatility in 
some of our end-markets, with strong year-over-year financial performance. We 
started 2014 on solid ground with strength in the pillars of our business and with 
our 2013 acquisitions completed and behind us.  We were quickly faced with the 
challenges associated with the adverse and cold inclement weather across many 
of our key end-markets in the first quarter of 2014. CanWel however demonstrated 
the resilience of its business model based on continued focus on operational 
efficiencies and the contributions from the strategic acquisitions brought into the 
CanWel family during the previous year. As a result, we weathered the storm in 
the first quarter, while activity levels were depressed in many provinces across 
the country, and we rapidly bounced back across all of our business units in the 
following seasonally strong quarters. 

Despite the challenging start to the year, our efforts and successes in 2014 led to strength and improvement 
across all of our key financial metrics with revenues, gross profit, EBITDA and net income showing further year-
over-year improvement. Revenues and gross profit increased to $759 million and $89.9 million, respectively, 
while EBITDA and net income growth outpaced revenue growth by amounting to $28.7 million and $12.3 million, 
representing a 28 percent and 35 percent increase, respectively when compared to 2013. The modest increase 
in revenues and significant improvement to our profitability metrics is mainly attributable to our continued focus 
on operational efficiencies, gross margin protection, overall cost management, and lastly our commitment to 
growing the Company methodically through organic growth and strategic acquisitions which in time, and as 
proven, have enhanced the value of your Company. We are pleased with the positive impact of our acquisitions 
to date which have provided us with these improved returns, a vaster footprint and deeper brand awareness 
in many parts of Canada.

We are proud of our accomplishments and successes over the past number of years and in particular our ability 
to come back from a tough start early in 2014 and end the year with strong performance. The CanWel team is 
already working hard in 2015, and is enthusiastic as we embark on the year ahead, even with the current tepid 
economic outlook, and we look forward to sharing the results of our efforts with you in the coming quarters.

I would like to take this opportunity to extend my special thanks, and offer my appreciation and gratitude to all 
of our employees, customers, suppliers and shareholders for your many years of support and ongoing belief 
in our ability to be Canada’s premier brand in building materials distribution. 

We will continue our hard work on your behalf in 2015 and look forward to the milestones ahead.

Sincerely,

Amar S. Doman
Chairman and CEO
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
February 26, 2015 
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) provides a review of the significant developments that have 
impacted CanWel Building Materials Group Ltd. (the “Company”) in the quarter and year ended December 31, 
2014 relative to 2013. This discussion of the financial condition and results of operations of the Company should 
be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the year 
ended December 31, 2014 (the “2014 Consolidated Financial Statements”). The financial information in this MD&A 
has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), applicable to the 
preparation of financial statements. 

This MD&A, the associated 2014 Consolidated Financial Statements and the 2014 Letter to Shareholders (the 
“2014 Reporting Documents”) contain historical information, descriptions of current circumstances and statements 
about potential future developments and anticipated financial results, performance or achievements of the 
Company and its subsidiaries. The latter statements, which are forward-looking statements, are presented to 
provide guidance to the reader but their accuracy depends on a number of assumptions and are subject to various 
known and unknown risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements are included under the headings 
“Business Overview”, “Outlook”, “Commitments and Contingencies”, “Sales and Gross Margin”, “Distributions and 
Dividend Policy” and “Liquidity and Capital Resources”. When used in this MD&A, such statements may contain 
such words as “may,” “will,” “intend,” “should,” “expect,” “believe,” “outlook,” “predict,” “remain,” “anticipate,” 
“estimate,” “potential,” “continue,” “plan,” “could,” “might,” “project,” “targeting” or the negative of these terms or 
other similar terminology. Forward-looking information in the 2014 Reporting Documents includes, without 
limitation, statements regarding funding requirements. These statements are based on management’s current 
expectations regarding future events and operating performance, are based on information currently available to 
management, speak only as of the date of 2014 Reporting Documents and are subject to risks which are 
described in our current Annual Information Form (“AIF”) and our public filings on the Canadian Securities 
Administrators’ website at www.sedar.com (“SEDAR”) and as updated from time to time, and would include, but 
are not limited to, dependence on market economic conditions, sales and margin risk, acquisition and integration 
risks, competition, information system risks, availability of supply of products, risks associated with the introduction 
of new product lines, product design risk, environmental risks, volatility of commodity prices, inventory risks, 
customer and vendor risks, availability of credit, credit risks, interest rate risks, key executive risk and litigation 
risks. In addition, there are numerous risks associated with an investment in common shares or our convertible 
debentures, which are also further described in the “Risks and Uncertainties” section in this MD&A and in the “Risk 
Factors” section of our AIF dated March 24, 2014, and as updated from time to time, and our other public filings on 
SEDAR. These risks and uncertainties may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in the 
statements. Such statements reflect management’s current views and are based on certain assumptions. Some of 
the key assumptions include, without limitation, assumptions regarding the performance of the Canadian economy, 
the state of the United States economy, interest rates, exchange rates, capital and loan availability, commodity 
pricing, the Canadian and U.S. housing and building materials markets; post acquisition operation of a business; 
the amount of the Company’s cash flow from operations; tax laws; and the extent of the Company’s future 
acquisitions and capital spending requirements or planning in respect thereto, including but not limited to the 
performance of such business and operation. They are, by necessity, only estimates of future developments and 
actual developments may differ materially from these statements due to a number of known and unknown factors. 
Investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. All forward-looking 
information in the 2014 Reporting Documents is qualified by these cautionary statements. Although the forward-
looking information contained these 2014 Reporting Documents is based on upon what management believes are 
reasonable assumptions, there can be no assurance that actual results will be consistent with these forward-
looking statements. Certain statements included in the 2014 Reporting Documents may be considered “financial 
outlook” for purposes of applicable securities laws, and such financial outlook may not be appropriate for purposes 
other than these 2014 Reporting Documents.  

The forward-looking statements contained in the 2014 Reporting Documents are made as of the date of this report, 
and should not be relied upon as representing management’s views as of any date subsequent to the date of this 
report. Except as required by applicable law, the Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or 
otherwise revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events, or 
otherwise.  
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The information in this report is as at February 26, 2015, unless otherwise indicated. All amounts are reported in 
Canadian dollars. 

1. In the discussion, reference is made to EBITDA, which represents earnings from continuing operations before interest, provision for 
income taxes, gain or loss on sale of fixed assets, depreciation and amortization, goodwill impairment loss and share-based 
compensation. This is not a generally accepted earnings measure under IFRS and does not have a standardized meaning under 
IFRS, and therefore the measure as calculated by the Company may not be comparable to similarly-titled measures reported by 
other companies. EBITDA is presented as we believe it is a useful indicator of a Company’s ability to meet debt service and capital 
expenditure requirements and because we interpret trends in EBITDA as an indicator of relative operating performance. EBITDA 
should not be considered by an investor as an alternative to net earnings or cash flows as determined in accordance with IFRS. For 
a reconciliation of EBITDA to the most directly comparable measures calculated in accordance with IFRS refer to “Reconciliation of 
Net Earnings to Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA)”. 

2.  Reference is also made to free cash flow of the Company. This is a non-IFRS measure generally used by Canadian companies as 
an indicator of financial performance. The measure as calculated by the Company might not be comparable to similarly-titled 
measures reported by other companies. Management believes that this measure provides investors with an indication of the cash 
available for distribution to shareholders of the Company. We define free cash flow as cash flow from operating activities before 
changes in non-cash working capital and pension and other post-retirement benefits and after maintenance of business capital 
expenditures and scheduled principal payments on debt obligations.  

 
Business Overview  
The Company is a leading Canadian national wholesale distributor of building materials and home renovation 
products and provider of wood pressure treating services. The Company services the new home construction, 
home renovation and industrial markets by supplying the retail and wholesale lumber and building materials 
industry, hardware stores, industrial and furniture manufacturers and similar concerns across Canada.  

Purchase of Pastway Planing Limited and North American Wood 
Treating Assets (the “Acquisitions”) 
On July 2, 2013, the Company acquired all the shares and business of Pastway Planing Limited (“Pastway”). 
Pastway performs wood treating and lumber dressing for a variety of customers at its owned 110 acre site located 
in Combermere, Ontario. The addition of Pastway is expected to enhance the Company’s presence in the treated 
wood and dressed lumber markets, particularly in the central Canadian region. 

On April 9, 2013, the Company acquired certain assets and the business of North American Wood Treaters (now 
doing business as North American Wood Preservers “NAWP”). Based in Abbotsford, British Columbia, NAWP 
provides wood treating services for customers predominantly based in British Columbia and Alberta. NAWP is 
expected to complement and strengthen the Company’s existing wood treating business in western Canada. 

The Acquisitions were financed through the issuance of a promissory note and the utilization of the Company’s 
revolving loan facility. Further information regarding the purchase price allocation is contained in Note 7 of the 
2014 Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Seasonality 
The Company’s sales are subject to seasonal variances that fluctuate in accordance with the normal home 
building season. The Company generally experiences higher sales in the second and third quarters compared to 
the first and fourth quarters. This creates a timing difference between free cash flow earned and dividends paid. 
While the Company has leveled dividends to provide a regular income stream to shareholders over the course of a 
year, the second and third quarters have historically been the Company’s most profitable. 
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Results of Operations 
Selected Annual Information 
        

 
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 

(in $ millions, per share in dollars) 2014 2013 2012(1) 

 
 

 
 

Sales  759.5 725.8 710.6 
Earnings before income taxes 17.1 12.0 10.3 
Net earnings 12.3 9.1 7.6 
Net earnings per share (basic and diluted)  0.43 0.32 0.26 

 
 

 
 

Total assets 296.2 278.0 256.7 
Long-term debt (2) 131.2 119.5 87.0 
Dividends declared to shareholders  16.1 16.1 16.3 
Dividends declared to shareholders (per share) 0.56 0.56 0.56 
Number of shares outstanding (3) 28,704,089 28,671,441 29,293,569 

1. On January 1, 2013 the Company retrospectively adopted the amendments for IAS 19 – Employee Benefits. The comparative 
amounts for 2012 have been restated.  

2. Excludes current portion of long-term debt. 
3. Weighted average basic shares. Reflects share consolidation. See Note 18 of 2014 Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2014 and  
December 31, 2013 

Sales and Gross Margin 
Sales for the year ended December 31, 2014 were $759.5 million, which compares to $725.8 million in 2013, an 
increase of $33.7 million or 4.6%. As the closing dates of the Acquisitions were concluded partway through 2013, 
last year’s results included only partial contributions from the Acquisitions’ operations, whereas 2014 reflects the full 
inclusion of these operations. The increase in sales is also attributable to the continuing focus on the Company’s 
target customer base and improved market conditions. 

The seasonally adjusted annual housing start rate for the year was approximately 0.7% higher compared to the 
rate last year(1). The Company’s sales for the year were made up of 58% construction materials, compared to 56% 
in 2013, with the remaining balance resulting from specialty and allied products.  

Gross margin dollars increased to $89.9 million in the year compared to $80.2 million in 2013, an increase of 
$9.7 million or 12.1%. Gross margin percentage was 11.8% in the year, an increase compared to the 11.0% 
achieved in 2013. The improvement in margin relates primarily to the results from the Acquisitions and the 
Company’s continued focus on effective cost management. 

  

                                            
1. As reported by CMHC. For further information, see “Outlook”. 
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Expenses  
Expenses for the year ended December 31, 2014 were $65.7 million as compared to $61.8 million in 2013, an 
increase of $3.9 million or 6.3%, due to the factors discussed below. As a percentage of sales, these expenses 
were 8.7% for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared with 8.5% in 2013. 

Distribution, selling and administration expense increased by $2.9 million, or 5.0%, to $60.9 million from $58.0 
million in 2013. The increase is mainly attributable to additional costs relating to the Acquisitions and their 
operations, and higher personnel costs resulting from the increased sales activity. As a percentage of sales, these 
expenses were 8.0% in the period, consistent with 2013. 

Share-based compensation cost in 2014 was $70,000 compared to $63,000 in 2013. Depreciation and 
amortization expense increased by $988,000 from $3.7 million in 2013 to $4.7 million in 2014, mainly due to the 
additional depreciation from the Acquisitions’ assets. 

Operating Earnings 
For the year ended December 31, 2014, operating earnings were $24.2 million compared to $18.5 million in 2013, 
an increase of $5.7 million or 30.8%, due to the foregoing factors. 

Finance Costs 
Finance costs for the year increased to $6.7 million from $6.6 million in 2013, an increase of $146,000 or 2.2%. 
This increase was due to higher average borrowings on the Company’s revolving loan facility, with the interest rate 
remaining flat compared to 2013. 

Earnings before Income Taxes 
For the year ended December 31, 2014 earnings before income taxes were $17.1 million, compared to $12.0 
million in 2013, an increase of $5.1 million or 42.5%, due to the foregoing factors.  

Provision for Income Taxes 
For the year, income tax expense was $4.8 million, compared to $2.9 million in 2013, an increase of $1.9 million or 
65.5%. The difference in the tax provision is a function of the difference in pre-tax earnings for the year ended 
December 31, 2014 compared to 2013. Included in the provision, current income tax expense was $2.6 million, 
compared to $299,000 in 2013. During 2014, the Company deducted all non-capital losses available for deduction 
during the year against its taxable income, and consequently began to accrue current income taxes. 

Net Earnings 
Accordingly, net earnings for the year ended December 31, 2014 were $12.3 million compared to $9.1 million in 
2013, an increase of $3.2 million or 35.2%, due to the foregoing factors. 
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Fourth Quarter Results 
A summary of the unaudited results for the three months ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 is as follows: 

 Three months ended December 31, 
(in $ thousands, per share in dollars) 2014 2013 
   
Sales $156,912 $148,499 
Gross Margin 19,228 17,559 
   
Distribution, selling and administration expenses 16,353 15,339 
Share-based compensation 17 - 
Depreciation and amortization 1,376 1,326 
Expenses 17,746 16,665 
   
Operating earnings 1,482 894 
   
Finance costs  1,510 1,594 
Other loss (income) 59 (53) 
Loss before income taxes (87) (647) 
   
Recovery of income taxes (27) (329) 
   
Net loss  ($60) ($318) 
   
Net loss per share (0.00) (0.01) 
 
Sales and Gross Margin 

Sales in the quarter were $156.9 million compared to $148.5 million in the same period in 2013, an increase of 
$8.4 million or 5.7%. The increase in sales was mainly due to the Company’s continuing focus on its target 
customer base, along with improved market conditions experienced during the current quarter. 

The seasonally adjusted annual housing start rate in the quarter was approximately 5.0% lower than the rate in the 
same period last year(2). The Company’s sales in the quarter were made up of 55% of construction materials 
compared to 53% in the same quarter last year, with the balance resulting from specialty and allied products.  

Gross margin dollars were $19.2 million in the quarter compared to $17.6 million in the same period in 2013, an 
increase of $1.7 million or 9.5%. Gross margin percentage was 12.3% in the quarter, an increase from 11.8% 
achieved in the fourth quarter of 2013. The improvement in margin relates primarily to the results from the 
Acquisitions and the Company’s continued focus on effective cost management. 

                                            
2. As reported by CMHC. For further information, see “Outlook”. 
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Expenses 
Expenses for the fourth quarter were $17.7 million as compared to $16.7 million for the same period in 2013, an 
increase of $1.1 million or 6.5%, due to the factors discussed below.  

Distribution, selling and administration expenses increased by $1.0 million, or 6.6%, to $16.4 million from 
$15.3 million in the same period in 2013. The increase is mainly attributable to higher personnel costs resulting 
from the increased sales activity. As a percentage of sales, these expenses were 10.4% in the quarter, compared 
to 10.3% in the same quarter in 2013. 

Share-based compensation cost in the fourth quarter of 2014 was $17,000, compared to $nil in the same period in 
2013. Depreciation and amortization expense was $1.4 million, compared to $1.3 million in the same period in 
2013, an increase of $51,000 or 3.8%, due to purchases of certain depreciable assets. 

Operating Earnings 
For the fourth quarter of 2014, operating earnings were $1.5 million compared to $894,000 for the same period in 
2013, an increase of $588,000 or 65.8%. The increase in operating earnings relates primarily to the increased 
sales resulting from the aforementioned focus on the Company’s target customer base, improved market 
conditions and continuing focused expense control. 

Finance Costs 
Finance costs for the quarter decreased to $1.5 million from $1.6 million in 2013, a decrease of $84,000 or 5.3%. 
The average borrowings on the Company’s revolving loan facility were substantially unchanged from the same 
period in the prior year, and the variable interest rate remained flat.  

Loss before Income Taxes 
For the fourth quarter of 2014 loss before income taxes was $87,000, compared to a loss of $647,000 in the same 
period in 2013, an increase in earnings of $560,000 or 86.6%, due to the foregoing factors. 

Recovery of Income Taxes 
For the fourth quarter of 2014, recovery of income taxes was $27,000 compared to $329,000 in the same quarter 
of 2013. The difference in the tax provision is a function of the difference in pre-tax earnings in the fourth quarter of 
2014 compared to the same period of 2013.  

Net Loss 
Accordingly, net loss for the fourth quarter was $60,000, compared to $318,000 in the fourth quarter of 2013, a 
decrease in the loss of $258,000 or 81.1%, due to the foregoing factors.  
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Summary of Quarterly Results 
For the Quarters ended: 

  2014 2013 
($ millions, per share in dollars)  31 - Dec 30 - Sep 30 - Jun 31 - Mar 31 - Dec 30 - Sep 30 - Jun 31 - Mar 
         
Sales 156.9 227.0 225.9 149.6 148.5 205.1 209.7 162.5 
EBITDA 2.8 12.0 12.6 1.2 2.3 9.2 7.4 3.6 
(Loss) earnings before income taxes (0.1) 9.2 9.6 (1.6) (0.6) 6.4 4.7 1.5 
Net (loss) earnings  (0.1) 6.7 6.9 (1.1) (0.3) 4.7 3.6 1.1 
Net (loss) earnings per share (1) (2) (0.00) 0.23 0.24 (0.04) (0.01) 0.16 0.12  0.04 
Dividends declared per share (2) 0.14 0.14 0.14 0.14 0.14 0.14 0.14  0.14 
1. Weighted average basic shares outstanding in period. 
2. Effective May 16, 2014 the Company consolidated its common shares on a basis of one new common share in exchange for every 

two common shares previously outstanding. Per share amounts have been restated to retroactively reflect this consolidation.  
 
The Company operates in a seasonal industry that fluctuates in accordance with the normal home building season. 
It generally experiences higher sales in the second and third quarters compared to sales in the first and fourth 
quarters.  

EBITDA  
EBITDA for the three months ended December 31, 2014 was $2.8 million compared to $2.3 million in the same 
quarter of 2013, an increase of $511,000 or 22.1%. The increase in EBITDA relates primarily to the impact of the 
aforementioned improvements in the quarter. 

EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $28.7 million compared to $22.5 million in 2013, an increase 
of $6.2 million or 27.7%. The increase in EBITDA during the year is primarily explained by the results from the 
Acquisitions, as well as the aforementioned improvements in 2014. 

Reconciliation of Net (Loss) Earnings to Earnings before Interest, 
Tax, Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA): 
 Three months ended December 31,  Year ended December 31, 
(in thousands of dollars) 2014 2013 2014 2013 
     
Net (loss) earnings ($60) ($318) $12,316 $9,105 
(Recovery of) provision for income taxes (27) (329) 4,783 2,924 
Finance costs 1,510 1,594 6,736 6,590 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,091 1,043 3,527 2,629 
Amortization of intangible assets 286 283 1,167 1,077 
Amortization of leasehold inducements 6 39 67 63 
Share-based compensation 17 - 70 63 
     
EBITDA $2,823 $2,312 $28,666 $22,451 
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Financial Condition 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company consumed $296,000 in cash, compared to generating 
$5.4 million in 2013. The following activities during the year were responsible for the change in cash. 

Operating activities generated $26.1 million in cash, before non-cash working capital changes, income taxes paid 
and interest, compared to $20.9 million in 2013. This increase is primarily a result of improved operating earnings 
in 2014 compared to 2013. 

During the year ended December 31, 2014, changes in non-cash working capital items used $11.8 million in cash, 
compared to $2.0 million in 2013. The change in working capital in the year was comprised of an increase in trade 
and other receivables of $9.3 million, an increase in inventory of $12.9 million, a decrease in prepaid expenses of 
$315,000, and an increase in trade and other payables and income taxes payable of $9.4 million. The overall 
change in working capital is due to higher business activity levels in the current year. Income taxes paid were 
$662,000, compared to $295,000 during the same period in 2013 as a function of the improvement in pre-tax 
earnings. Cash interest on the revolving loan facility and bank indebtedness in 2014 was $3.2 million compared to 
$3.0 million in the same period in 2013 due to higher average outstanding indebtedness. 

In the year ended December 31, 2014, financing activities consumed $7.7 million of cash, compared to generating 
$9.7 million in 2013. Shares issued during the year generated $100,000 of cash compared to $78,000 in 2013. An 
exercise of share options consumed $127,000 of cash compared to $nil in 2013. The annual scheduled 
installment payment of a promissory note consumed $1.9 million of cash, compared to $nil in 2013. The 
Company used $nil to redeem convertible debentures under its Normal Course Issuer Bid (“NCIB”) compared to 
$1.2 million in 2013. 

Dividends paid to shareholders amounted to $16.1 million, compared to $12.0 million in 2013. The increase in 
dividends paid was due to a timing matter and not a change in the dividend rate or policy; the dividends for the 
fourth quarter of 2012 were paid out on December 31, 2012, whereas the dividends for the fourth quarter of 2013 
were accrued at December 31, 2013 and paid on January 15, 2014. 

Interest paid on convertible debentures in 2014 was $2.6 million, consistent with 2013. The revolving loan facility 
increased by $12.9 million, compared to $26.1 million in 2013.  

The Company’s revolving loan facility with Wells Fargo Capital Finance Corporation Canada (“Wells Fargo”) 
matures on January 31, 2018. Under the facility up to $275 million, with an additional $50 million accordion facility, 
may be borrowed for operating requirements in Canadian and US currency. Interest on Canadian dollar advances 
is charged based on the Canadian prime rate and on US dollar advances is charged based on the US prime rate. 
At the option of the borrower, the interest rate may also be based on London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) or 
Banker's Acceptance equivalent interest rates. The amount advanced under the facility at any time is limited to a 
defined percentage of inventories and trade and other receivables, less certain reserves. The facility is secured by 
a first charge over the Company’s assets and an assignment of trade receivables and requires that certain 
covenants be met by the Company. The Company was not in breach of any of its covenants during the year ended 
December 31, 2014. 

Investing activities in the year consumed $2.9 million of cash for capital expenditures, compared to $19.9 million in 
2013, which was mainly due to the Acquisitions. 

The Company’s cash flow from operations and credit facilities are expected to be sufficient to meet operating 
requirements, debenture interest, capital expenditures and anticipated dividends. The Company’s lease obligations 
require monthly installments and these payments are all current. 
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Total Assets 
Total assets of the Company were $296.2 million at December 31, 2014, versus $278.0 million at December 31, 
2013, an increase of $18.2 million. Current assets increased by $21.9 million, due to an increase of $9.3 million in 
trade and other receivables, an increase of $12.9 million in inventories, partially offset by a decrease of $315,000 
in prepaid expenses.  

Total Liabilities 
Total liabilities were $194.8 million at December 31, 2014, versus $171.9 million at December 31, 2013, an 
increase of $22.9 million. This increase was mainly due to an increase in current liabilities, primarily as a result of a 
seasonal increase in trade and other payables of $7.5 million and an increase in income taxes payable of 
$2.6 million, and an increase in the revolving loan facility in order to finance the working capital requirements of the 
Company of $13.0 million. 

Outstanding Share Data 
As at February 26, 2015, there were 28,730,056 Common Shares issued and outstanding.  

Effective May 16, 2014, the Company consolidated its common shares on a basis of one new common share in 
exchange for every two common shares previously outstanding. All common shares and per common share 
amounts have been restated to retroactively reflect this consolidation. 

Dividends 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company declared quarterly dividends to shareholders of $0.14 
per share, resulting in aggregate dividends of $16.1 million. A dividend was declared on December 15, 2014, to 
shareholders of record on December 31, 2014, and was paid on January 15, 2015. 

Record date 
 

Amount 
$ 

Per share 
$ 

March 31, 2014 4,017 0.14 
June 30, 2014 4,019 0.14 
September 30, 2014 4,020 0.14 
December 31, 2014 4,021 0.14 

  
 16,077 0.56 

Distributions and Dividend Policy 
The Board of Directors reviews the Company’s dividend policy periodically in the context of the Company’s overall 
profitability, free cash flow, capital requirements and other business needs.  

Looking forward (see Forward-Looking Statements), the Company is continually assessing its dividend policy 
based on the considerations outlined above as well as other possible factors that may become relevant in the 
future and, accordingly, there can be no assurance that the current quarterly dividend of $0.14 per share will be 
maintained. Furthermore, the Company may not use future growth in its profitability or free cash flow, if any, to 
increase its dividend in the near or medium term, but may focus on reducing the ratio of its dividends paid to its net 
income or free cash flow and using any additional cash to pay down debt and fund business acquisitions or capital 
projects. 
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Hedging 
The Company undertakes sale and purchase transactions in foreign currency and therefore, is subject to gains 
and losses due to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. 

The Company may utilize foreign exchange contracts to reduce exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency 
exchange rates. The Company does not purchase or hold forward foreign exchange contracts for speculative 
purposes. As at December 31, 2014, there were no such contracts held. 

The Company at times uses derivative financial instruments for economic hedging purposes in managing lumber 
price risk through the use of futures contracts and options. These derivative financial instruments are designated 
as held for trading with changes in fair value being recorded in Other income in Net earnings. 

At December 31, 2014, the Company had no outstanding lumber futures contracts and no lumber options. 

When held by the Company, these derivative instruments are traded through a well-established financial services firm 
with a long history of providing trading, exchange and clearing services for commodities. As trading activities are 
closely monitored by senior management, the risk of credit loss on these financial instruments is considered low. 

Related Party Transactions 
The Company has transactions with related parties in the normal course of operations at agreed amounts between 
the related parties.  

Certain distribution facilities used by the Company to store and process inventory are leased from a company in 
which Amar Doman, a director and officer, and Rob Doman, an officer of the Company, have a minority interest 
and the land and buildings of certain of the treatment plants are leased from entities solely controlled by Amar 
Doman. All lease rates were market tested in advance of the signing of the lease agreements and were 
determined to be at market rates. Lease payments to such related parties were $3.0 million in the year ended 
December 31, 2014, compared to $2.8 million in 2013. The minimum payments under the terms of these leases 
are as follows: $3.0 million in 2015, $2.8 million in 2016, $2.8 million in 2017, $2.8 million in 2018, $2.6 million in 
2019 and $1.7 million thereafter. 

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company was charged professional fees in relation to regulatory, 
corporate finance and compliance consulting services of $595,000 (2013 - $541,000) by a company owned by Rob 
Doman. As at December 31, 2014, payables to this related party were $187,000 (2013 - $112,000). Additionally, 
fees of $955,000 (2013 - $739,000) were paid for services related to strategic and financial advice to a company 
solely controlled by Amar Doman. As at December 31, 2014, payables to this related party were $76,000 (2013 - 
$40,000). 

During the year the Company purchased $3.1 million (2013 - $3.0 million) of product from a public company in 
which Amar Doman has an ownership interest and is also a director and officer. These purchases are in the 
normal course of operations and are recorded at exchange amounts. As at December 31, 2014, payables to this 
related party were $124,000 (2013 - $16,000). 

During the year the Company sold $45,000 (2013 - $nil) of product to a company controlled by Siegfried Thoma, a 
director of the Company. These sales were made in the normal course of operations and are recorded at exchange 
amounts. As at December 31, 2014, receivables from this related party were $nil (2013 - $nil). 

As at December 31, 2014, other receivables from Amar Doman in respect of advances for expenses totaled 
$8,000 (2013 - $37,000). 

Additional information is contained in Note 23 of the 2014 Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Commitments and Contingencies 
Future and Contractual Obligations 
In addition to its revolving loan facility and convertible debentures, the Company has operating lease commitments 
for the rental of most of its distribution centre and treatment plant properties in Canada and for vehicles, 
warehouse equipment, a computer hosting contract and the leasing of computer network communication lines.  

The following table shows, as at December 31, 2014, the Company’s contractual obligations within the periods 
indicated: 
 
Payment Made by Year 
Contractual Obligations    
(in thousands of dollars)  Total 2015 2016-2017 2018-2019 Thereafter 
 
Revolving loan facility(1)  $     91,836 $     3,046  $     6,092 $     82,698 $             - 
Convertible debentures(2)  50,079  2,556 47,523 - - 
Promissory note(3)  8,598 1,900 3,800 2,898 - 
Operating leases  60,829 11,560 19,295 15,646 14,328 
Total contractual obligations(4)  $   211,342 $   19,062 $   76,710 $   101,242 $   14,328 

1. Interest has been calculated based on the average borrowing under the facility for the year ended December 31, 2014 utilizing the 
interest rate payable under the terms of the facility at December 31, 2014. This facility matures on January 31, 2018.  

2. Under the indenture governing its convertible debentures the Company is required to make semi-annual interest payments at a rate 
of 5.85% on October 31 and April 30. The debentures mature on April 30, 2017. 

3. Annual principal payments are $1.9 million on July 2, with simple interest payable as a lump sum on the maturity date. The 
promissory note matures on July 2, 2018. 

4. Additional information is contained in Note 24 of the 2014 Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Claims 
During the normal course of business, certain product liability and other claims have been brought against the 
Company and, where applicable, its suppliers. While there is inherent difficulty in predicting the outcome of such 
matters, management has vigorously contested the validity of these claims, where applicable, and, based on 
current knowledge, believes that they are without merit and does not expect that the outcome of any of these 
matters, in consideration of insurance coverage maintained, or the nature of the claims, individually or in the 
aggregate, would have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations or 
future earnings of the Company. 

Guarantees 
The Company has issued letters of credit totaling $1.5 million (2013 - $1.5 million) in respect of historical 
obligations, pre-dating 1999, for a non-registered executive pension plan for former executives.  

Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates 
The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make judgments and estimates and form 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, management 
evaluates its judgments and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management uses 
historical experience and various other factors it believes to be reasonable under the given circumstances as the 
basis for its judgments and estimates. Actual outcomes may differ from these estimates under different 
assumptions and conditions. Significant areas requiring estimates are goodwill and related impairment testing, 
inventory valuation and obsolescence, deferred tax assets and liabilities valuation, recoverability of trade and other 
receivables, and certain actuarial and economic assumptions used in the determination for the cost and accrued 
benefit obligations of employee future benefits. 
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Goodwill 
Management uses judgment in determining the fair value of the acquired net identifiable tangible and intangible 
assets at the date of a business combination. Any resulting goodwill is an asset representing the future economic 
benefits arising from other assets acquired in a business combination that are not individually identified and 
separately recognized. Goodwill at December 31, 2014 relates to the Company’s acquisitions of various 
businesses. Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if changes in 
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. Goodwill impairment is assessed based on a comparison of the fair 
value of a reporting unit to the underlying carrying value of that reporting unit’s net assets, including goodwill. 
When the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the fair value of goodwill related to the 
reporting unit is compared to its carrying value and excess of carrying value is recognized as an impairment loss. 

Employee future benefits 
The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment medical benefits and the present value of 
the pension obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various 
assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future.  

Discount rate 

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows 
using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will 
be paid and that have maturity profiles that are similar to the underlying cash flows of the defined benefit 
obligation.  

Other assumptions 

The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables. Future salary increases are based on expected 
future inflation rates.  

Inventory valuation 
Under IFRS, inventories must be recognized at the lower of cost or their Net Realizable Value (“NRV”), which is 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and estimated 
costs necessary to make the sale. IFRS requires that the estimated NRV be based on the most reliable evidence 
available at the time the estimates are made of the amounts that inventories are expected to realize. The 
measurement of an inventory write-down to NRV is based on the Company’s best estimate of the NRV and of our 
expected future sale or consumption of our inventories. Due to the economic environment and continued volatility 
in the homebuilding market, there is uncertainty as to whether the NRV of the inventories will remain consistent 
with those used in our assessment of NRV at period end. As a result there is the risk that a write-down of on hand 
and unconsumed inventories could occur in future periods. Also, a certain portion of inventory may become 
damaged or obsolete. A slow moving reserve is recorded, as required, based on an analysis of the length of time 
product has been in inventory and historical rates of damage and obsolescence.  

Allowance for doubtful accounts 
It is possible that certain trade receivables may become uncollectible, and as such an allowance for these doubtful 
accounts is maintained. The allowance is based on the estimated recovery of trade receivables and incorporates 
current and expected collection trends. These estimates will change, as necessary, to reflect market or specific 
industry risks, as well as known or expected changes in the customers’ financial position. 
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Income taxes 
At each balance sheet date, a deferred income tax asset may be recognized for all tax deductible temporary 
differences, unused tax losses and income tax reductions, to the extent that their realization is probable. The 
determination of this requires significant judgment. This evaluation includes review of the ability to carry-back 
operating losses to offset taxes paid in prior years; the carry-forward periods of the losses; and an assessment of 
the excess of fair value over the tax basis of the Company’s net assets. If based on this review, it is not probable 
such assets will be realized then no deferred income tax asset is recognized. 
 
Management believes the estimates utilized in preparing its financial statements are reasonable and prudent. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Changes in Accounting Policies 
The Company has retrospectively adopted the following new and revised standards effective January 1, 2014, in 
accordance with the applicable transactional provisions.  

IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation 
The Company has adopted the amendments to International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 32, Financial 
Instruments: Presentation. IAS 32 amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right to 
set-off”. The adoption of these amendments did not result in any adjustments. 

IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets 
IAS 36, Impairment of Assets, was amended to require disclosures about assets for which an impairment loss was 
recognized or reversed during the period. These amendments did not result in any adjustments. 

New Accounting Pronouncements Issued but not yet Applied 
The International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) periodically issues new standards and amendments or 
interpretations to existing standards. The new pronouncements listed below are those that we consider the most 
significant. They are not intended to be a complete list of new pronouncements that may affect our financial 
statements. 

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments 
IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 requires all 
recognized financial assets that are within the scope of IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, to be subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value. Specifically, financial assets that are 
held with a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash 
flows that are solely payment of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, are generally measured at 
amortized cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. All other financial assets including equity investments 
are measured at their fair values at the end of subsequent accounting periods. 

Requirements for classification and measurement of financial liabilities were added in October 2010 and they 
largely carried forward existing requirements in IAS 39, except that fair value changes due to credit risk for 
liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss would generally be recorded in other comprehensive 
income. 
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The IASB issued a new impairment model for financial assets based on expected credit losses in July 2014. The 
new standard requires entities to account for expected credit losses from when financial instruments are first 
recognized and it lowers the threshold for recognition of full lifetime expected losses. 

IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with earlier application permitted. The 
Company will not adopt this standard before the effective date. The Company will continue to evaluate the impact 
of this standard on its audited annual consolidated financial statements. 

IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which is a replacement of IAS 
18, Revenue, IAS 11, Construction Contracts, and related interpretations. IFRS 15 provides a single, principles-
based five-step model that will apply to all contracts with customers with limited exceptions. In addition to the five-
step model, the standard specifies how to account for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract and the costs 
directly related to fulfilling a contract. The incremental costs of obtaining a contract must be recognized as an asset 
if the entity expects to recover these costs. IFRS 15 requirements will also apply to the recognition and 
measurement of gains and losses on the sale of some non-financial assets that are not an output of the entity’s 
ordinary activities.  

IFRS 15 will be applied to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2017. Earlier application is permitted. The 
Company will not adopt this standard before the effective date. The Company will continue to evaluate the impact 
of this standard on its audited annual consolidated financial statements. 

Amendments to Other Standards 
In addition, there have been amendments to existing standards, including IFRS 2, Share-based Payment, IFRS 3, 
Business Combinations, IFRS 8, Operating Segments, IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, IAS 19, Employee 
Benefits, IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures and IAS 38, Intangible Assets. 

IFRS 2 amendments clarify the definition of share-based payment vesting conditions. IFRS 3 amendments 
address accounting for contingent consideration in business combinations. IFRS 8 addresses additional disclosure 
requirements for the aggregation of operating segments and clarifies the recognition of total reportable segments’ 
assets to the entity’s assets. IAS 16 and IAS 38 clarify acceptable methods of depreciation and amortization, 
prohibiting the use of revenue based depreciation. IAS 19 provides additional guidance on contributions from 
employees in respect of defined benefit plans. IAS 24 amends the definition of a related party, with additional 
disclosures required when key management personnel services are provided by a management entity. 

These amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after July 1, 2014, with the exception of the 
amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38, which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2016, 
with earlier application permitted. The Company will not adopt any of these standards before their effective 
dates. The Company will continue to evaluate the impact of these standards on its audited annual consolidated 
financial statements. 
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Disclosure Controls and Internal Controls over Financial Reporting 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to: (a) provide reasonable 
assurance that material information required to be disclosed by us is accumulated and communicated to 
management to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure; and (b) ensure that information required to be 
disclosed by us is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in applicable 
securities legislation. Our management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial 
Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2014. 
Based upon this evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that these 
disclosure controls and procedures, as defined by National Instrument 52-109, Certification of Disclosure in the 
Issuer’s Annual and Interim Filings, are effective for the purposes set out above. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
Management is responsible for designing, establishing and maintaining an adequate system of internal control 
over financial reporting. Our internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes, in accordance 
with IFRS. 

Management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, has conducted 
an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014 based 
on the provisions of Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based on that evaluation, management concluded that its 
internal control over financial reporting, as defined by National Instrument 52-109, is effective and provides 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS. 

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
There has been no material change in the design of Company’s internal controls over financial reporting for the 
quarter and year ended December 31, 2014 that has affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Risks and Uncertainties 
The Company is subject to normal business risks associated with similar firms operating within the building 
materials industry in Canada, which are described in greater detail in our AIF dated March 24, 2014, as may be 
updated in 2015, and our public filings on www.sedar.com, which the reader is encouraged to review.  
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Outlook 
The Canadian economy is expected to grow by 2.1% in 2015 and 2.4% in 2016 according to estimates published 
by the Bank of Canada (“BoC”). The BoC, however, continues to express concern over high levels of consumer 
debt in Canada, and the potential negative impact that could have on the housing market, when interest rates 
eventually begin to rise. The Company’s focus in the near term remains to improve sales with its target customer 
base while continuing to optimize gross margins and maintain tight controls over expenses. The Company is 
committed to enhancing its offering of specialty and allied products to the Canadian market. Management’s focus 
on cash flow, primarily consisting of the management of inventory and trade receivables, remains paramount.  

According to the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (the “CMHC”), the seasonally adjusted annualized 
rate for Canadian housing starts was 189,329 in 2014, compared to 187,923 in 2013, an increase of 0.7%. CMHC 
forecasts similar housing starts for the year 2015. The Canadian Real Estate Association reports 481,162 existing 
homes changed hands in Canada in 2014, an increase of 5.1% compared to 2013. Tighter lending requirements 
imposed by the CMHC may have negatively impacted recent housing starts, and there can be no assurance that 
this impact will not continue. Additionally, changes to investor-class immigration programs in the 2014 Federal 
Budget may affect the housing market, although any potential impact is not predictable.  

Prices for construction materials have generally improved as a result of seasonal demand and reductions in 
product availability. However, BoC has recently expressed concerns about the potential impact of a decrease in 
petroleum commodity prices on the Canadian economy, and consequently lowered its key interest rate. The 
resulting decrease in the value of the Canadian dollar could potentially negatively impact the Company’s 
operations.  

U.S. housing starts are generally continuing to improve; however, have not yet demonstrated a sustained recovery 
in the single family category, as evidenced by recent U.S. Commerce Department reports, and therefore there are 
no clear signs of commodity price improvements beyond current levels, unless caused by new supply side 
corrections. In addition, ongoing recent major international economic developments and monetary policy changes 
related thereto encouraged by the Canadian or other governments have the potential to threaten, dampen or 
reverse any short-term economic improvements. Therefore, we will continue to keep a close eye on our customers 
and continue to carefully manage our costs in line with their activity so that the Company can be appropriately 
positioned to participate in an economic recovery and be ready to work hard to translate revenue gains into higher 
EBITDA, cash flow and earnings. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders of CanWel Building Materials Group Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of CanWel Building Materials Group 
Ltd., which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2014 and 2013 
and the consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive earnings, changes in equity and cash flows 
for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of CanWel Building Materials Group Ltd. as at December 31, 2014 and 2013, and its financial performance 
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Vancouver, Canada 
February 26, 2015 Chartered accountants
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2014 

 
2013 

(Note 7) 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)  Notes  $  $ 

       
Assets  14     
       
Current assets       
Trade and other receivables  8  56,456  47,169 
Inventories   9  111,616  98,691 
Prepaid expenses    2,903  3,218 

    170,975  149,078 
       

Non-current assets       
Property, plant and equipment   10  23,696  24,508 
Deferred income tax assets  21  1,122  2,891 
Intangible assets  11  6,472  7,639 
Goodwill   12  93,909  93,909 
    125,199  128,947 
Total assets    296,174  278,025 
       
Liabilities       
       
Current liabilities       
Bank indebtedness   13  6,274  5,978 
Trade and other payables    39,218  31,740 
Dividends payable  18  4,021  4,016 
Income taxes payable    2,154  224 
Current portion of promissory note  16  1,900  1,900 
    53,567  43,858 

       
Non-current liabilities       
Revolving loan facility  14  82,035  69,047 
Deferred income tax liabilities  21  2,614  2,569 
Convertible debentures  15  42,970  42,659 
Promissory note  16  6,166  7,766 
Leasehold inducements    1,759  1,692 
Pension benefits  17  432  - 
Post-retirement benefits  17  5,245  4,295 
    141,221  128,028 
    194,788  171,886 
       
Equity       
Common shares  18  237,712  237,542 
Contributed surplus    10,769  10,896 
Deficit    (147,095)  (142,299) 
    101,386  106,139 
Total liabilities and equity    296,174  278,025 
Commitments and Contingencies 24 

Approved by the Board of Directors 
(signed) “Amar S. Doman”  Director (signed) “Sam Fleiser”  Director 

Consolidated Statements of  Financial Position as at December 31
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   2014 2013 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars except  
per share amounts) Notes  $ $ 

     
Revenue 28,29  759,468 725,836 
     
Cost of sales 19  669,562 645,590 
     
Gross margin from operations   89,906 80,246 
     
Expenses     
Distribution, selling and administration  20  60,931 58,022 
Share-based compensation    70 63 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment   3,527 2,629 
Amortization of intangible assets   1,167 1,077 
   65,695 61,791 
     
Operating earnings    24,211 18,455 
     
Finance costs 22  6,736 6,590 
Other loss (income)   376 (164) 
     
Earnings before income taxes   17,099 12,029 
     
Provision for income taxes 21  4,783 2,924 

     
Net earnings   12,316 9,105 
     
Other comprehensive (loss) income     
Actuarial (loss) gain from pension and other benefit plans, 
  net of (tax recovery) tax of ($377) (2013 - $1,759) (1) 17,21   (1,035) 4,825 
     
Comprehensive earnings   11,281 13,930 
     
Net earnings per share (2)     
Basic and diluted    0.43 0.32 

     
Weighted average number of shares (2) 18    
Basic   28,704,089 28,671,441 
Diluted   28,704,089 28,688,841 
1. Item that will not be reclassified to earnings. 
2. Reflects share consolidation. See Note 18. 

  

Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive Earnings for the years ended December 31
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  Contributed   

 
Common shares surplus Deficit Total 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars except 
share amounts) # $ $ $ $ 
As at December 31, 2012 28,649,458 237,381 10,916 (140,170) 108,127 
Shares issued pursuant to: 

     Restricted Equity Common Share Plan 16,519 83 (83) - - 
Employee Common Share Purchase Plan 18,184 78 - - 78 

Share-based compensation charged to operations - - 63 - 63 
Dividends - - - (16,059) (16,059) 
Comprehensive earnings for the year - - - 13,930 13,930 
      
As at December 31, 2013 28,684,161 237,542 10,896 (142,299) 106,139 
Shares issued pursuant to:      

Restricted Equity Common Share Plan 13,655 70 (70) - - 
Employee Common Share Purchase Plan 20,482 100 - - 100 

Share-based compensation charged to operations - - 70 - 70 
Exercise of share options - - (127) - (127) 
Dividends - - - (16,077) (16,077) 
Comprehensive earnings for the year - - - 11,281 11,281 
      
As at December 31, 2014 28,718,298 237,712 10,769 (147,095) 101,386 
 
 
  

Consolidated Statements of  Changes in Equity for the years ended December 31
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  2014  2013 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Notes $  $ 

     
Operating activities     
Net earnings for the year  12,316  9,105 

Items not effecting cash     
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10 3,527  2,629 
Provision for deferred income taxes 21 2,191  2,625 
Net change in pensions and other post-retirement benefits  (231)  (1,299) 
Amortization of:     

Intangible assets 11 1,167  1,077 
Leasehold inducements  67  63 

Share-based compensation  70  63 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  228  - 
Finance costs 22 6,736  6,590 

     
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in non-cash 

working capital, income taxes paid and interest paid  26,071  20,853 
Changes in non-cash working capital 27 (11,827)  (2,003) 
Income taxes paid  (662)  (295) 
Interest paid on revolving loan facility and bank indebtedness 22 (3,236)  (2,962) 
     

Net cash flows provided by operating activities  10,346  15,593 
     

Financing activities     
Shares issued 18 100  78 
Exercise of share options  (127)  - 
Repayment of promissory note 16 (1,900)  - 
Repurchase of convertible debentures 15 -  (1,216) 
Dividends paid 18 (16,072)  (12,043) 
Interest paid on convertible debentures 22 (2,556)  (2,571) 
Financing costs on borrowings  -  (661) 
Increase in revolving loan facility  12,856  26,078 
     

Net cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities  (7,699)  9,665 
     
Investing activities     
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 10 (3,402)  (1,325) 
Proceeds from disposition of property, plant and equipment  459  - 
Business acquisitions 7 -  (18,575) 
     
Net cash flows used in investing activities  (2,943)  (19,900) 
     
Net (increase) decrease in bank indebtedness  (296)  5,358 
Bank indebtedness - Beginning of year  (5,978)  (11,336) 
     
Bank indebtedness - End of year  (6,274)  (5,978) 
 

  

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

CanWel Building Materials Group Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated in 2009 under the Business 
Corporations Act (British Columbia). On May 11, 2010, the Company was continued under the laws of 
Canada pursuant to section 187 of the Canada Business Corporations Act with its current name. The 
Company has limited liability, with its shares publicly listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”). The 
Company’s head office is located at Suite 1100 – 609 Granville Street, Vancouver, BC. The Company 
operates through its wholly owned subsidiaries in Canada as a national distributor of building materials 
and home renovation products and a provider of wood pressure treating services.  
 
2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION  

a) Statement of compliance 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issuance on February 26, 2015 by the 
Board of Directors of the Company.  

b) Functional and presentation currency 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s 
functional currency. All financial information presented in Canadian dollars has been rounded to the 
nearest thousand, except per share amounts. 

c) Basis of measurement 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, 
except for the following items in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position: 

(i) Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value; and 

(ii) Employee benefit plan assets and liabilities are recognized as the net of the fair value of the 
plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligations on a plan by plan basis. 
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d) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the financial statements of the Company 
and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are those entities which the Company controls by having the power to 
govern the financial and operational policies of the entity. All intercompany transactions and balances 
have been eliminated.  

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless 
otherwise stated.   
  
a) Business combinations and goodwill 
 
Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method, whereby assets obtained, 
liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Company in exchange for control 
of the acquired business are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. The acquired business’ 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the recognition criteria under IFRS 3, 
Business Combinations are recognized at their fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current 
assets which are classified as held-for-sale in accordance with IFRS 5, Non-Current Assets Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations, and are recognized and measured at fair value, less costs to sell.  
 
To the extent the fair value of consideration paid exceeds the fair value of the net identifiable tangible 
and intangible assets, goodwill is recognized. To the extent the fair value of consideration paid is less 
than the fair value of net identifiable tangible and intangible assets, the difference is recognized in 
income immediately. Goodwill is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

Acquisition costs associated with a business combination are expensed in the period incurred.  
 
b) Foreign currency translation 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the spot rate prevailing 
at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rate at the reporting date. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses that relate to the Company’s revolving loan facility and bank indebtedness 
are recognized in earnings within ‘finance costs’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are 
presented within ‘cost of sales’. 
 
c) Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an item of PPE consists of the purchase price, any costs 
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for its intended use and 
an initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is 
located. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. 
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Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as 
follows: 
 
Buildings 3% 
Leasehold improvements based on lease term 
Machinery and equipment 10% to 33% 
Automotive equipment 30% 
Computer equipment and systems development 20% to 33% 
 
Depreciation begins when an asset is placed in use. 
 
An item of PPE is derecognized upon disposal when no future economic benefits are expected to 
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal of the asset, 
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset, is recognized in earnings. 
 
The Company conducts an annual assessment of the residual balances, useful lives and depreciation 
methods being used for PPE and any changes arising from the assessment are applied by the 
Company prospectively. 
 
d) Leases 
 
Finance leases that transfer substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership to the Company are 
capitalized at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance 
charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognized in earnings within finance costs. 
 
Operating lease payments are recognized as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.  
 
Leasehold inducements arising from rent-free inducements and tenant improvement allowances 
received from the landlord are being amortized over the term of the lease on a straight-line basis. 
 
e) Intangible assets 

All intangible assets acquired by the Company through business acquisitions are recorded at fair value 
on the date of acquisition. Intangible assets that have indefinite lives are measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets that have finite useful lives are subsequently 
measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets 
comprise of customer relationships, which are amortized on a straight-line basis over 10 years. 
Amortization rates are reviewed annually to ensure they are aligned with estimates of remaining 
economic useful lives of the associated intangible assets. 
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f) Pension and other post-employment benefits 
 
For defined benefit pension plans and other post-retirement benefits, the net periodic pension expense 
is actuarially determined on an annual basis by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit 
method. The determination of benefit expense requires assumptions such as the discount rate to 
measure obligations, the projected age of employees upon retirement, the expected rate of future 
compensation and the expected health care cost trend rate. For the purpose of calculating the expected 
return on plan assets, the assets are valued at fair value. Actual results will differ from results that are 
estimated based on assumptions. All past service costs arising from plan amendments are recognized 
immediately in earnings when the plan amendment occurs or when related restructuring costs are 
recognized, if earlier.  
 
The asset or liability recognized in the statement of financial position is the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation at the statement of financial position date less the fair value of plan assets, together 
with adjustments for asset ceiling impairment or additional liabilities due to onerous minimum funding 
requirement under International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) 14, 
International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 19, The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset. The present value 
of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using 
interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits 
will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating the value of the defined benefit obligation. 
The remeasurement of fair value of plan assets compared to expected values, together with 
remeasurements on plan obligations from assumption changes or experience adjustments are 
recognized immediately in other comprehensive earnings. For funded plans, surpluses are recognized 
only to the extent that the surplus is considered recoverable. Recoverability is primarily based on the 
extent to which the Company can unilaterally reduce future contributions to the plan. 
 
Payments to defined contribution plans are expensed as incurred. 
 
g) Share-based payments 
 
Certain employees (including directors and senior executives) of the Company may receive a portion of 
their remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render 
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”). 
 
The costs of equity-settled transactions with employees are measured by reference to the fair value at 
the date on which they are granted. The costs of equity-settled transactions are recognized, together 
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service 
conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the 
shares (“the vesting date”). The cumulative expense is recognized for equity-settled transactions at 
each reporting date until the vesting date and reflects the Company’s best estimate, at such time, of the 
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The profit or loss charge or credit for the period 
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognized as at the beginning and end of that period 
and is recognized in earnings as share-based compensation and the corresponding amount is 
recognized in contributed surplus. 
 
No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is 
conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the 
market condition is satisfied provided that all other performance and / or service conditions are satisfied. 
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Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognized is the 
expense as if the terms had not been modified. An additional expense is recognized for any 
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise 
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification. 
 
h) Finance costs 
 
The Company’s borrowings are recorded net of financing costs, which are deferred at inception and 
subsequently amortized over the term of the debt. Interest expense is calculated using the effective 
interest rate method.  
 
i) Inventories 
 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value (“NRV”). Cost is determined using 
the weighted average cost method, net of vendor rebates, and includes materials, freight and, where 
applicable, treatment cost. NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
 
j) Vendor rebates 
 
The Company records cash consideration received from vendors as a reduction in the price of vendors’ 
products and reflects it as a reduction to cost of sales and related inventory. Certain exceptions apply 
where the cash consideration received is either a reimbursement of incremental selling costs incurred 
by the reseller or a payment for goods or services delivered to the vendor, in which case the rebate is 
reflected as a reduction of operating expenses. 
 
k) Income tax 
 
Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognized in net 
earnings for the year. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years. 
 
Deferred tax is recognized using the asset and liability method, providing for temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts 
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the temporary differences from the initial 
recognition of goodwill. 
 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when 
they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be 
available against which the temporary difference can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at 
each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realized. 
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l) Earnings per share 
 
Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing the net earnings for the year by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share reflects the 
potential dilution of common share equivalents, such as outstanding stock options, convertible 
debentures and restricted equity common shares, in the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the year, if dilutive. The “treasury stock method” is used for the assumed proceeds 
upon the exercise of the options that are used to purchase common shares at the average market price 
during the year. The “if converted” method is used to measure the potential dilution from the conversion 
of convertible debentures.  
 
m) Financial instruments 
 

(i) Non-derivative financial instruments 
 
The Company’s non-derivative financial instruments are comprised of trade and other 
receivables, bank indebtedness, trade and other payables, dividends payable, revolving loan 
facility, convertible debentures and promissory note. 

 
Financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value plus, for instruments not measured at 
fair value on an ongoing basis, any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to the 
initial recognition, financial instruments are measured as follows: 

 
 Held for trading financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value with the 

resulting gains and losses recognized in net earnings for the year. 
 Available for sale financial assets measured at fair value with unrealized gains and 

losses recognized in other comprehensive earnings except for losses in value that are 
considered other than temporary. Realized gains and losses are recognized in net 
earnings. 

 Loans and receivables and held to maturity financial assets are measured at amortized 
cost, using the effective interest rate method less impairment losses. 

 Other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest 
rate method. 

 
The Company has classified or designated its financial instruments as follows: 

 
 Trade and other receivables as loans and receivables. 
 Bank indebtedness, trade and other payables, dividends payable, revolving loan 

facility, convertible debentures and promissory note as other financial liabilities. 
 

(ii) Derivative financial instruments 
 

The Company at times uses derivative financial instruments for economic hedging purposes in 
managing lumber price risk through the use of futures contracts and options. These derivative 
financial instruments are designated as held for trading with changes in fair value being 
recorded in Other income (loss) in net earnings. 
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n) Fair value measurement 
 
The Company measures financial instruments, such as derivatives at fair value at each statement of 
financial position date. Also, fair values of financial instruments measured at amortized cost are 
disclosed in Note 25. 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 
 

(i) In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
(ii) In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company. The fair value of 
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 
 
The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
o) Equity 

 
Share capital represents the amount received for shares issued. When shares are issued on a business 
acquisition, the amount recognized is the fair value at the acquisition date.  
 
Contributed surplus includes the compensation cost relating to the Company’s share-based payment 
transactions. It also includes the difference between the cost of repurchased shares and the average 
book value. 
 
Dividends on common shares attributable to shareholders are presented in current liabilities when 
approved prior to the reporting date. 
 
p) Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue from the sale of products is recognized, net of discounts and customer rebates, at the time 
goods are shipped and the transfer of significant risks and rewards of ownership has taken place, and 
collectability is reasonably assured. 
 
q) Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) that has 
arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  
 
A provision for an onerous contract is recognized when the economic benefits to be received under the 
contract are less than the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract. The 
provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating or 
performing the contract. Before establishing a provision, the Company recognizes any impairment loss 
that has occurred on the assets dedicated to that contract. 
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Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risk specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as 
finance costs. 
 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and are adjusted to reflect the best 
estimates at that date.  
 
r) Impairment 
 
Financial assets 
 
The Company assesses at each statement of financial position date whether a financial asset is 
impaired. If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on assets carried at amortized cost has 
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is then reduced by the amount of the 
impairment. The amount of the loss is recognized in earnings. 
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized 
impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed what the 
amortized cost would have been had the impairment had not been recognized. For financial assets 
measured at amortized cost, any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in earnings. 
 
In relation to trade receivables, a provision for impairment is made and an impairment loss is 
recognized in earnings when there is objective evidence (such as the probability of insolvency or 
significant financial difficulties of the debtor) that the Company will not be able to collect all of the 
amounts due under the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of the receivable is reduced 
through use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are written off against the allowance account 
when they are assessed as uncollectible. 
 
Non-financial assets 
 
The carrying amounts of the Company’s property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that have 
a finite life are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if certain impairment 
indicators arise. The Company’s annual impairment testing date for goodwill is December 31. 
 
If any such indication exists or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit (the 
lowest level of identifiable cash inflows) is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to 
sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset group or cash-generating unit. In determining fair value less costs to sell, 
recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such transactions can be identified, 
an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, 
quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators. 
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An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds 
its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in net earnings for the year.  
 
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses 
recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent 
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized. 
 
s) Related party transactions 
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other 
party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. 
Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant 
influence, related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. A transaction is considered to be a 
related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties. 
The Company has transactions with related parties in the normal course of operations at amounts as 
agreed between the related parties. 
 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES  

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make judgments and estimates 
and form assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. On an 
ongoing basis, management evaluates its judgments and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, 
revenue and expenses. Management uses historical experience and various other factors it believes to 
be reasonable under the given circumstances as the basis for its judgments and estimates. Actual 
outcomes may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions. Significant areas 
requiring estimates are goodwill and related impairment testing, inventory valuation and obsolescence, 
deferred tax assets and liabilities valuation, recoverability of trade receivables, and certain actuarial and 
economic assumptions used in the determination for the cost and accrued benefit obligations of 
employee future benefits. 
 
a) Goodwill 
 
Management uses judgment in determining the fair value of the acquired net identifiable tangible and 
intangible assets at the date of a business combination. Any resulting goodwill is an asset representing 
the future economic benefits arising from other assets acquired in a business combination that are not 
individually identified and separately recognized. Goodwill at December 31, 2014 relates to the 
Company’s acquisitions of wood treating plants as part of the “value-added services”, as well as the 
acquisition of Broadleaf Logistics Company as part of the “core business” in 2010. Goodwill is not 
amortized, but is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if changes in circumstances indicate 
a potential impairment. Goodwill impairment is assessed based on a comparison of the fair value of a 
reporting unit to the underlying carrying value of that reporting unit’s net assets, including goodwill. 
When the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the fair value of goodwill related 
to the reporting unit is compared to its carrying value and excess of carrying value is recognized as an 
impairment loss (Note 12).  
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b)  Employee future benefits 
 
The cost of defined benefits pension plans and other post-employment medical benefits and the present 
value of the pension obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation 
involves making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future (Note 17).  
 

i. Discount rate 
 The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the 

estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are 
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have maturity 
profiles that are similar to the underlying cash flows of the defined benefit obligation.  

 
ii. Other assumptions 

 The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables. Future salary increases are 
based on expected future inflation rates.  

 
c) Inventory valuation 

 
Under IFRS, inventories must be recognized at the lower of cost or their NRV, which is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and estimated 
costs necessary to make the sale. IFRS requires that the estimated NRV be based on the most reliable 
evidence available at the time the estimates are made of the amounts that inventories are expected to 
realize. The measurement of an inventory write‐down to NRV is based on the Company’s best estimate 
of the NRV and expected future sale or consumption of inventories. Due to the economic environment 
and continued volatility in the homebuilding market, there is uncertainty as to whether the NRV of the 
inventories will remain consistent with those used in our assessment of NRV at period end. As a result 
there is the risk that a write‐down of on‐hand and unconsumed inventories could occur in future periods. 
Also, a certain portion of inventory may become damaged or obsolete. A slow moving reserve is 
recorded, as required, based on an analysis of the length of time product has been in inventory and 
historical rates of damage and obsolescence (Note 19).  
 
d) Allowance for doubtful accounts 

 
It is possible that certain trade receivables may become uncollectible, and as such, an allowance for 
these doubtful accounts is maintained. The allowance is based on the estimated recovery of trade 
receivables and incorporates current and expected collection trends. These estimates will change, as 
necessary, to reflect market or specific industry risks, as well as known or expected changes in the 
customers’ financial position (Note 8).  
 
e) Income taxes 

 
At each statement of financial position date, a deferred income tax asset may be recognized for all 
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and income tax reductions, to the extent that their 
realization is probable. The determination of this requires significant judgment. This evaluation includes 
review of the ability to carryback operating losses to offset taxes paid in prior years; the carry forward 
periods of the losses; and an assessment of the excess of fair value over the tax basis of the 
Company’s net assets. If based on this review it is not probable such assets will be realized, then no 
deferred income tax asset is recognized (Note 21).  
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5. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The Company has retrospectively adopted the following new and revised standards effective January 1, 
2014, in accordance with the applicable transactional provisions.  
 
IAS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation  

The Company has adopted the amendments to IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation. IAS 32 
amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off”. The adoption of 
these amendments did not result in any adjustments. 

IAS 36 - Impairment of Assets 

IAS 36, Impairment of Assets, was amended to require disclosures about assets for which an 
impairment loss was recognized or reversed during the period. These amendments did not result in any 
adjustments. 
 
6. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET ADOPTED 

The following is an overview of accounting standard changes the Company will be required to adopt in 
future years.  
 
IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 
requires all recognized financial assets that are within the scope of IAS 39, Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, to be subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value. 
Specifically, financial assets that are held with a business model whose objective is to collect the 
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payment of principal and 
interest on the principal outstanding, are generally measured at amortized cost at the end of 
subsequent accounting periods. All other financial assets including equity investments are measured at 
their fair values at the end of subsequent accounting periods. 

Requirements for classification and measurement of financial liabilities were added in October 2010 and 
they largely carried forward existing requirements in IAS 39, except that fair value changes due to credit 
risk for liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss would generally be recorded in other 
comprehensive income. 
 
The IASB issued a new impairment model for financial assets based on expected credit losses in July 
2014. The new standard requires entities to account for expected credit losses from when financial 
instruments are first recognized and it lowers the threshold for recognition of full lifetime expected losses. 
 
IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with earlier application 
permitted. The Company will not adopt this standard before the effective date. The Company will 
continue to evaluate the impact of this standard on its audited annual consolidated financial statements.  
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IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which is a 
replacement of IAS 18, Revenue, IAS 11, Construction Contracts, and related interpretations. IFRS 15 
provides a single, principles-based five-step model that will apply to all contracts with customers with 
limited exceptions. In addition to the five-step model, the standard specifies how to account for the 
incremental costs of obtaining a contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a contract. The 
incremental costs of obtaining a contract must be recognized as an asset if the entity expects to recover 
these costs. IFRS 15 requirements will also apply to the recognition and measurement of gains and 
losses on the sale of some non-financial assets that are not an output of the entity’s ordinary activities.  
 
IFRS 15 will be applied to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2017. Earlier application is 
permitted. The Company will not adopt this standard before the effective date. The Company will 
continue to evaluate the impact of this standard on its audited annual consolidated financial statements. 
 
Amendments to Other Standards 
 
In addition, there have been amendments to existing standards, including IFRS 2, Share-based 
Payment, IFRS 3, Business Combinations, IFRS 8, Operating Segments, IAS 16, Property, Plant and 
Equipment, IAS 19, Employee Benefits, IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures and IAS 38, Intangible 
Assets. 
 
IFRS 2 amendments clarify the definition of share-based payment vesting conditions. IFRS 3 
amendments address accounting for contingent consideration in business combinations. IFRS 8 
addresses additional disclosure requirements for the aggregation of operating segments and clarifies 
the recognition of total reportable segments’ assets to the entity’s assets. IAS 16 and IAS 38 clarify 
acceptable methods of depreciation and amortization, prohibiting the use of revenue based 
depreciation. IAS 19 provides additional guidance on contributions from employees in respect of 
defined benefit plans. IAS 24 amends the definition of a related party, with additional disclosures 
required when key management personnel services are provided by a management entity. 
 
These amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after July 1, 2014, with the exception 
of the amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38, which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 
January 1, 2016, with earlier application permitted. The Company will not adopt any of these standards 
before their effective dates. The Company will continue to evaluate the impact of these standards on its 
audited annual consolidated financial statements. 
 
7. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS 

On April 9, 2013, the Company acquired certain assets and the business of North American Wood 
Treaters (now doing business as North American Wood Preservers “NAWP”). Based in Abbotsford, British 
Columbia, NAWP provides wood treating services for customers predominately based in British Columbia 
and Alberta. The Company acquired NAWP to complement the Company’s existing treated wood 
business in western Canada. 
 
On July 2, 2013, the Company acquired all of the shares and business of Pastway Planing Limited 
(“Pastway”). Pastway performs wood treating and lumber dressing for a variety of customers at its owned 
110 acre site located in Combermere, Ontario. The Company acquired Pastway to expand its presence in 
the treated wood and dressed lumber markets, particularly in the central Canadian region. 
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Details of the fair value of the aggregate consideration transferred and the fair value of the identifiable 
assets and liabilities acquired at the date of the above noted acquisitions were as follows: 
 

  2013(1) 
 Notes $ 

   
Cash consideration  18,575 
Promissory note 16 9,500 
   
Consideration  28,075 
   
Assets and liabilities acquired   
Non-cash working capital  9,312 
Property, plant and equipment 10 17,513 
Intangible assets (customer lists) 11 1,633 
Deferred income taxes  (2,686) 
   
Total identifiable net assets at fair value  25,772 
Goodwill arising on acquisitions 12 2,303 
   
Consideration  28,075 
 

1. The provisional purchase price allocation determined at the acquisition date was preliminary and subject to change up to a period of 
one year upon finalization of fair value determination.  

 
An independent valuation of the acquired assets was completed during the third quarter of 2014, 
resulting in the finalized acquisition date fair value of property, plant and equipment of $17,513, a 
decrease of $84 versus the 2013 provisional amount, and the fair value of intangible assets of $1,633, 
an increase of $84 versus the 2013 provisional amount. The resulting adjustments to the depreciation of 
property, plant and equipment and the amortization of intangible assets were not material. 
 
The goodwill recognized was primarily attributed to the expected synergies arising from the acquisitions 
and the expertise and reputation of the assembled management and workforce. Goodwill is expected to 
be deductible for income tax purposes. 
 
From the date of acquisition, these acquired entities contributed $76,723 of revenue and $4,053 of the 
net earnings. 
 
In 2013, directly attributable acquisition-related costs of $312 have been expensed and are included in 
Distribution, selling and administration expenses on the 2013 consolidated statement of earnings. 
 
It is impracticable for the Company to disclose the acquirees’ gross revenues and net earnings as 
though these acquisitions had taken place at the beginning of 2013, as audited financial information is 
not available for these acquisitions prior to the acquisition dates. 
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8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

The Company’s trade and other receivables arise primarily from sales of building materials to 
customers. These are broken down as follows: 

 
  2014 2013 
   $ $ 
Trade receivables  51,282 44,021 
Allowance for doubtful accounts  (133) (123) 
Net trade receivables  51,149 43,898 
Other receivables  5,307 3,271 
    
   56,456 47,169 
 
The ageing analysis of trade and other receivables is as follows: 
 
  2014 2013 
   $ $ 
Neither past due nor impaired  52,187 41,562 
Past due but not impaired:    

Less than 1 month  2,370 3,778 
1 to 3 months  1,899 1,770 
3 to 6 months  - 59 

    
Total trade and other receivables  56,456 47,169 
 
Activity in the Company’s provision for doubtful accounts is as follows: 

 
 $ 
Balance at January 1, 2013 154 
Accruals during the year 20 
Accounts written off (51) 
  
Balance at December 31, 2013 123 
Accruals during the year 84 
Accounts written off (74) 
  
Balance at December 31, 2014 133 
 
The Company holds no collateral for any receivable amounts outstanding as at December 31, 2014. 



39

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

CanWel Building Materials  
Group Ltd.

Annual Report 
2014

Annual Report 
2014

9. INVENTORIES 

   
2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Inventories held for resale   92,127 81,793 
Inventories held for processing   19,489 16,898 

     
   111,616 98,691 
 

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 Land 

Buildings and 
leasehold 

improvements 

Machinery, 
automotive 

and other 
equipment 

Computer 
equipment 

 and systems 
development Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ 
Cost      
Cost at January 1, 2013 854 3,543 14,252 421 19,070 
Additions - 310 887 128 1,325 
Additions arising on acquisitions 
(Note 7) 40 4,053 13,420 - 17,513 
      
Cost at December 31, 2013 894 7,906 28,559 549 37,908 
Additions - 132 1,160 2,110 3,402 
Disposals - (73) (647) - (720) 
      
Cost at December 31, 2014 894 7,965 29,072 2,659 40,590 
      
Accumulated depreciation      
Accumulated depreciation at 
January 1, 2013 - 671 9,778 322 10,771 
Depreciation - 426 2,136 67 2,629 
      
Accumulated depreciation at 
December 31, 2013 - 1,097 11,914 389 13,400 
Depreciation - 498 2,884 145 3,527 
Disposals - (1) (32) - (33) 
      
Accumulated depreciation at 
December 31, 2014 - 1,594 14,766 534 16,894 
      
Net book value at  
December 31, 2013 894 6,809 16,645 160 24,508 
      
Net book value at  
December 31, 2014 894 6,371 14,306 2,125 23,696 
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11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

  Core Value-added  
  business services Total 
  $ $ $ 
Cost     
Cost at December 31, 2013 (Note 7)  10,000 1,633 11,633 

Cost at December 31, 2014  10,000 1,633 11,633 
     
Accumulated amortization     
Accumulated amortization at December 31, 2013  (3,917) (77) (3,994) 
Amortization during the year  (1,000) (167) (1,167) 

Accumulated amortization at December 31, 2014  (4,917) (244) (5,161) 

Net intangible assets at December 31, 2013  6,083 1,556 7,639 

Net intangible assets at December 31, 2014  5,083 1,389 6,472 

12. GOODWILL 

   2014 2013 
   $ $ 

Core business   62,624 62,624 
Value-added services   31,285 31,285 

     
   93,909 93,909 

 
The Company performed its annual test for goodwill impairment as at December 31, 2014. The 
recoverable amount of each of the cash-generating units has been determined using fair value less 
costs to sell. To determine fair value less costs to sell, the Company utilized five-year cash flow 
forecasts using the budget approved by the Board of Directors. Cash flow forecasts beyond that of the 
budget were prepared using a stable growth rate for future periods. These forecasts were based on 
historical data and future trends expected by the Company. To adjust the forecasts to consider selling 
costs, management estimated that disposition costs would be 1% of enterprise value.  

For the impairment test carried out, management estimated expected growth rates through the forecast 
period. The Company’s valuation model also takes into account working capital and capital investments 
required to maintain the condition of the assets.  

Forecasted cash flows were discounted using after-tax rates of approximately 9.5% in both cash-
generating units for the purpose of the annual impairment test.  

Based on the impairment tests, the fair value of each of the cash-generating units exceeded their 
carrying amounts. As a result, no provision for impairment of goodwill was provided. 
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There is a material degree of uncertainty with respect to the estimates of the recoverable amounts of 
the cash-generating units’ net assets given that these estimates involve making key assumptions about 
the future. In making such assumptions, management has given its best estimate of future economic 
and market conditions.  
 
The Company’s impairment testing has determined that the recoverable amount for the core business 
cash-generating unit is $178,000, which exceeds the carrying amount by approximately $36,000.  
A reasonably possible increase in the discount rate may result in an impairment charge. An increase 
in the after-tax discount rate of 1.25% would result in the recoverable amount being equal to the 
carrying amount. 
 
13. BANK INDEBTEDNESS 

    2014  2013 
    $  $ 
       

 Cheques issued in excess of cash on hand    6,274  5,978 
 
14. REVOLVING LOAN FACILITY 

    2014  2013 
    $  $ 
       

 Revolving loan facility     82,444  69,588 
 Financing costs, net of amortization    (409)  (541)  

       
    82,035  69,047 

 
The Company’s revolving loan facility with Wells Fargo Capital Finance Corporation Canada matures 
on January 31, 2018. Under the facility up to $275,000, with an additional $50,000 accordion facility, 
may be borrowed for operating requirements in Canadian and US currency. Interest on Canadian dollar 
advances is charged based on the Canadian prime rate and US dollar advances is charged based on 
the US prime rate. The amount advanced under the facility at any time is limited to a defined 
percentage of inventories and trade receivables, less certain reserves. The facility is secured by a first 
charge over the Company’s assets and an assignment of trade receivables and requires that certain 
covenants be met by the Company. The Company was not in breach of any of its covenants during the 
year ended December 31, 2014.  

15. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES 

    2014 2013 
    $ $ 
      
Convertible debentures     43,689 43,689 
Financing costs, net of amortization    (719) (1,030) 
      
    42,970 42,659 
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On April 22, 2010, the Company completed a bought-deal prospectus financing and issued $45,000 of 
unsecured convertible debentures denominated in principal amounts of one thousand dollars, resulting 
in proceeds of $42,676 net of underwriting fees and costs of $2,324. The debentures bear interest at an 
annual rate of 5.85% payable semi-annually in arrears on October 31 and April 30 in each year 
commencing on October 31, 2010 and have a maturity date of April 30, 2017. 
 
Each debenture is convertible into common shares of the Company at the option of the holder at any 
time prior to the close of business on the earlier of the maturity date and the business day immediately 
preceding the date specified by the Company for redemption of the debentures at a conversion price of 
$12.80 per common share (the “Conversion Price”), being a conversion rate of approximately 78.13 
common shares per one thousand dollars of debenture principal amounts, subject to adjustment in 
accordance with the trust indenture governing the terms of the debentures. 
 
The debentures may be redeemed by the Company, in whole or in part from time to time, on not more 
than 60 days and not less than 30 days prior notice, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount 
thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the volume weighted average trading price of 
the common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange for the 20 consecutive trading days ending five 
days preceding the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the Conversion 
Price. On or after April 30, 2015 and prior to the maturity date, the debentures may be redeemed in 
whole or in part at the option of the Company on not more than 60 days and not less than 30 days prior 
notice at a price equal to their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest.  
 
The convertible debentures are compound instruments and the proceeds are required to be bifurcated to 
record the fair value of the separate debt and equity components. The fair value of the debt was 
determined using a discounted cash flow model using market interest rates for equivalent non-convertible 
debt. Based on the fair value of the debt, no bifurcation was required and no proceeds were allocated to 
the equity conversion feature. Transactions costs offset the carrying value and are amortized using the 
effective interest method as finance costs over the expected life of the convertible debentures. 
 
Normal Course Issuer Bid (“NCIB”) 
 
On November 19, 2012, the Company commenced a NCIB with respect to its convertible debentures. 
Under the terms of the NCIB, the Company could purchase for cancellation up to 4,500 of its 
convertible debentures at market prices up to November 20, 2013. On November 19, 2013, the 
Company renewed its NCIB to purchase for cancellation up to 4,350 of its convertible debentures at 
market prices. For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company repurchased and cancelled $nil 
(2013 - $1,282) of its convertible debentures for cash payments of $nil (2013 - $1,216) resulting in no 
gains or losses (2013 - gain of $66) (Note 22) on repurchase. In total, the Company has repurchased 
and cancelled $1,311 of its convertible debentures pursuant to the NCIB. The NCIB expired on 
November 20, 2014, and there were no remaining convertible debentures authorized for repurchase. 
 
16. PROMISSORY NOTE 

 
  2014  2013 

  $  $ 
     
Promissory note  7,600  9,500 
Accrued interest  466  166 
Less: current portion  (1,900)  (1,900) 

     
  6,166  7,766 
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On July 2, 2013, the Company issued a $9,500 promissory note in connection with business 
acquisitions (Note 7). The principal amount of the promissory note is payable annually in five equal 
instalments of $1,900 commencing on July 2, 2014 and maturing on July 2, 2018. The promissory note 
bears simple interest and is payable as a lump sum on the maturity date. 

17. PENSIONS AND OTHER POST-RETIREMENT BENEFITS 

Defined benefit pension plans 

The Company sponsors two non-contributory defined benefit pension plans: one a registered pension 
plan for salaried employees and the other a non-registered historical pension plan for certain retired 
executives. The pensions from both plans are based on years of service and historical highest average 
salary. The plans were closed to new participants effective August 1, 2000. The Company amended the 
registered defined benefit pension plan effective January 1, 2005 to reduce the benefit formula for future 
years of service and to allow members of the defined benefit pension plan to participate in the defined 
contribution plan. In respect of the non-registered historical executive pension plan, the Company has 
issued letters of credit amounting to $1,547 (2013 - $1,489) based on annual actuarial estimates. 

The most recent actuarial valuation of the pension plans for funding purposes was as of December 31, 
2013. 

The next actuarial valuation is required to be performed at December 31, 2016. 

Defined contribution plans 

The Company sponsors defined contribution plans for eligible employees. Pension expense for the 
defined contribution plans for the year ended December 31, 2014 amounted to $793 (2013 - $823) and 
is included in distribution, selling and administration expenses. 

Post-retirement benefits other than pensions 

The Company provides extended health care benefits and pays provincial medical plan premiums on 
behalf of qualifying employees. The Company also pays for the dental benefits of certain retirees who 
had been employed at a predecessor company. 
 
Total cash payments 

Total cash payments for employee future benefits for 2014, consisting of cash contributed by the 
Company to defined benefit plans, defined contribution plans, and other post-retirement benefits, were 
$1,409 (2013 - $2,896), including solvency deficiency contributions of $nil (2013 - $1,268).  

Included in total cash payments, based on 2014 experience, the Company expects the 2015 
contributions for its defined benefit plans to be approximately $371, including solvency deficiency 
contributions of $nil.  
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The status of the defined benefit pension plans and post-retirement benefit plans is as follows: 

  Pension benefit plans  Other benefit plans 
         

  
2014 

$  
2013 

$  
2014 

$  
2013 

$ 
Net benefit expense         

Current service cost  385  479  -  - 
Interest cost on benefit obligation  1,991  1,773  189  166 
Interest on effect of asset ceiling impairment at 

beginning of year  96  -  -  - 
Expected return on plan assets  (2,075)  (1,514)  -  - 
         
Net benefit expense  397  738  189  166 

Defined benefit obligation         
Defined benefit obligation at January 1  44,441  47,707  4,295  4,703 
Current service cost  385  479  -  - 
Interest cost on benefit obligation  1,991  1,773  189  166 
Benefits paid  (2,568)  (3,066)  (376)  (373) 
Actuarial losses (gains) on obligation  4,797  (2,452)  1,137  (201) 
         
Defined benefit obligation at December 31  49,046  44,441  5,245  4,295 

         
Plan assets         

Fair value of plan assets at January 1  46,524  40,362  -  - 
Expected return on plan assets  2,075  1,514  -  - 
Employer contributions  240  1,700  376  373 
Benefits paid  (2,568)  (3,066)  (376)  (373) 
Actuarial gains on plan assets  2,343  6,014  -  - 
         
Fair value of plan assets at December 31  48,614  46,524  -  - 

         
Net benefit (liability) asset         

Fair value of plan assets at December 31  48,614  46,524  -  - 
Accrued benefit obligation at December 31  (49,046)  (44,441)  (5,245)  (4,295) 

  (432)  2,083  (5,245)  (4,295) 
Asset ceiling impairment  -.  (2,083)  -  - 

         
Net benefit liability  (432)  -  (5,245)  (4,295) 
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The Company has recorded net benefit expense and actuarial gains (losses) as follows: 

  Pension benefit plans  Other benefit plans 
         

  
2014 

$  
2013 

$  
2014 

$  
2013 

$ 
         
Distribution, selling and administration         

Current service cost  385  479  -  - 
         
Finance costs         

Interest cost on benefit obligation  1,991  1,773  189  166 
Interest on effect of asset ceiling impairment 

at beginning of year  96  -  -  - 
Expected return on plan assets  (2,075)  (1,514)  -  - 
         
  12  259  189  166 
         

Other comprehensive income (loss)         
Actuarial gains (losses) on obligation         

Changes in demographic assumptions  69  (1,357)  47  (172) 
Changes in financial assumptions  (4,024)  3,809  (351)  373 
Changes due to plan experience  (842)  -  (833)  - 

  (4,797)  2,452  (1,137)  201 
Actuarial gains on plan assets  2,343  6,014  -  - 
Net change in effect of asset ceiling   2,179  (2,083)  -  - 
         
  (275)  6,383  (1,137)  201 

 
Assets 

The weighted average asset allocation of the defined benefit plan consists of: 

  2014  2013 
  %  % 
     
Equity securities  45  58 
Debt securities  51  38 
Short-term securities  4  4 
     
  100  100 
 
All investments within the defined benefit plan are quoted in active markets. 
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Significant assumptions 

The significant weighted average assumptions used are as follows: 

  Pension benefit plans  Other benefit plans 
         

  
2014 

%  
2013 

%  
2014 

%  
2013 

% 
Accrued benefit obligation as of December 31         

Discount rate  3.80  4.60  3.80  4.60 
Rate of compensation increase  3.25  3.50     

         
Benefit costs for year ended December 31         

Discount rate  4.60  3.80  4.60  3.80 
Rate of compensation increase  3.25  3.50      

 
Assumed health care cost trend rates at December 31 are as follows: 

  2014  2013 
  %  % 

     
Initial health care cost trend rate  6.0  6.0 
Cost trend rate declines to   6.0  6.0 
Year that the rate reaches the rate it is assumed to remain at  all years  all years 
 
The 1994 Uninsured Pensioner Mortality Table includes mortality improvements projected to the year 
2020 using projection scale AA (sex distinct rates), with life expectancies from age 65: for males 19 
years; for females 22 years. For 2013, the mortality assumptions include a 90% adjustment to the 1994 
Uninsured Pensioner Mortality Table with mortality improvements projected to the year 2020 using 
projection scale AA. For 2014, the mortality table was changed to 2014 Canadian Pensioners Mortality 
Private table with generational projection and adjusted for size of pensions. 

Sensitivity analysis  

A one-percentage point change in the assumed rate of increase in health care costs would have the 
following effects: 
 

 Other benefit plans 
  2014  2013 

  
Increase 

$ 
Decrease 

$  
Increase 

$  
Decrease 

$ 

 
       

Effect on the defined benefit obligation  479 (447)  428  (365) 
Effect on the aggregate current service cost and 

interest cost  18 (17)  16  (15) 
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A one-percentage point change in the assumed discount rate would have the following effects: 
 

  Pension benefit plans  Other benefit plans 
         

  
Increase 

$  
Decrease 

$  
Increase 

$  
Decrease 

$ 
2014         

Effect on the defined benefit obligation  (4,942)  5,979  (430)  473 
Effect on the aggregate current service cost 
and interest cost  173  (223)  30  (37) 

2013         
Effect on the defined benefit obligation  (4,590)  5,585  (393)  501 
Effect on the aggregate current service cost 
and interest cost  106  (172)  21  (22) 

 
The average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at December 31, 2014 is 12 years. 

18. SHARE CAPITAL 

The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common and preferred 
shares with no par value. 
 
Common Share Consolidation 

Effective May 16, 2014, the Company consolidated its common shares on a basis of one new common 
share in exchange for every two common shares previously outstanding. All common shares and per 
common share amounts have been restated to retroactively reflect this consolidation. 

Normal Course Issuer Bid 
 
In 2011, the Company commenced a NCIB with respect to its common shares. Under the terms of the 
NCIB the Company may purchase for cancellation up to an authorized number of common shares over 
a twelve month period. Shares acquired will be at the market price of the shares at the time of 
acquisition. 
 
The NCIB was not renewed in November 2014. 
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Since the inception of the NCIB, the Company had repurchased and cancelled common shares 
pursuant to the NCIB as follows: 
 
  Repurchased  Remaining  
Effective period Authorized in 2011 in 2012 in 2013 In 2014 Expired authorized  
 # # # # # # # 
        
November 21, 2011 - 

November 20, 2012 1,737,500 771,250 940,650 - - 25,600 - 
November 21, 2012 - 

November 20, 2013 1,500,000 - 147,287 - - 1,352,713 - 
November 21, 2013 - 

November 20, 2014 1,425,000 - - - - 1,425,000 - 
        
As at December 31, 2014  771,250 1,087,937 - - 2,803,313 - 
 
As at December 31, 2014, all common shares repurchased under the NCIB had been cancelled.  
 
Employee Common Share purchase plan 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company has issued 20,482 (2013 – 18,184) common 
shares from treasury for gross proceeds of $100 (2013 - $78) from employees, pursuant to this plan.  
 
The plan authorizes a maximum of 250,000 of the Company’s issued and outstanding common shares 
to be reserved for issuance. 
 
Restricted Equity Common Share Plan 
 
The Company’s Restricted Equity Common Share Plan provides for an allotment of Restricted Equity 
Common Shares (“RSUs”) to designated directors, officers and employees of the Company (each a 
“Member”) at the discretion of the compensation committee.  
 
RSUs generally vest one-third on the date of grant and one-third on each of the first and second 
anniversary of the date of the grant. However, vesting may be accelerated, or different vesting 
schedules may be implemented, at the discretion of the compensation committee. RSUs shall, within 30 
days of vesting and, in any event, by no later than December 31 following the vesting date, be satisfied 
by the Company issuing to the holder that number of shares equal to the number of vested RSUs then 
credited to the holder. The RSUs earn additional RSUs for the dividends that would otherwise have 
been paid on the RSUs as if they had been issued as of the date of the grant. The number of additional 
RSUs is calculated using the average market price of the Company’s shares in the five days 
immediately preceding each distribution.  
 
RSUs granted are considered to be in respect of future services and are recognized in share-based 
compensation costs over the vesting period. Compensation cost is measured based on the market price 
of the Company’s shares on the date of granting of the RSUs.  
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The Company’s obligation to issue shares on the vesting of RSUs is an unfunded and unsecured 
obligation of the Company. 
 
The plan authorizes a maximum of 1,500,000 of the Company’s issued and outstanding common 
shares to be reserved for issuance. 
 
Outstanding RSUs are as follows: 
 
  2014 2013 
  # # 
   
As at January 1 - 5,385 
Granted during the year 13,655 10,984 
Additional RSUs earned as notional dividends - 150 
Vested and converted to common shares during the year (13,655) (16,519) 
   
As at December 31 - - 
 
Compensation expense in respect of RSUs for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $70 (2013 - $63). 

Dividends 

The amounts and record dates of dividends declared were as follows: 

Record date  
Amount 

$ 
Per share 

$ 
March 31, 2014  4,017 0.14 
June 30, 2014  4,019 0.14 
September 30, 2014  4,020 0.14 
December 31, 2014  4,021 0.14 

    
  16,077 0.56 

 
On December 15, 2014, the Company declared a dividend of $0.14 per share, totalling $4,021 to 
shareholders of record on December 31, 2014, which was paid on January 15, 2015. 

On December 16, 2013, the Company declared a dividend of $0.14 per share, totalling $4,016 to 
shareholders of record on December 31, 2013, which was paid on January 15, 2014. 

On December 11, 2012, the Company declared a dividend of $0.14 per share, totaling $4,010 to 
shareholders of record on December 20, 2012, which was paid on December 31, 2012. 
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19. COST OF SALES 

Cost of sales includes the following costs: 

  2014  2013 
  $  $ 
     

Costs relating to purchased and treated goods sold in the year  663,204  639,803 
Salaries and benefits  5,020  4,501 
Inventory provisions  744  709 
Other   594  577 

     
  669,562  645,590 

20. DISTRIBUTION, SELLING AND ADMINISTRATION COSTS  

The Distribution, selling and administration costs include the following: 

  2014  2013 
  $  $ 
     

Wages and benefits  35,517  33,873 
Building rent and occupancy costs  15,593  15,247 
Travel, promotion and entertainment  3,673  3,608 
Office and miscellaneous  3,662  3,141 
Professional and management fees  2,486  2,153 

     
  60,931  58,022 

21. INCOME TAXES  

Income tax for the Company is broken out as follows: 

Consolidated Statements of Earnings 

  2014  2013 
  $  $ 
     

Current income tax   2,592  299 
Deferred income tax  2,191  2,625 

     
  4,783  2,924 
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Earnings 

  2014  2013 
  $  $ 

Deferred tax related to items recorded in OCI during the year     
Actuarial (losses) gains  (377)  1,759 

 
The Company’s effective income tax rate differs from the statutory income tax rate. The difference 
arises from the following items:  
 

  2014  2013 
  $  $ 
     

Earnings before income taxes  17,099  12,029 
     

Income tax at statutory rates  4,548  3,197 
Adjustment to deferred tax assets related to changes in tax rates  2  (26) 
Share-based compensation  19  17 
Amounts not deductible for tax and other  214  (264) 

     
Income tax expense  4,783  2,924 
 
Temporary differences that give rise to deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows: 

   
2014 

$  
2013 

$ 
      

Deferred income tax (liabilities) assets:      
Property, plant and equipment   (3,163)  (2,032) 
Pensions and other post-retirement benefits   1,512  1,145 
Non-capital losses   861  2,372 
Non-deductible reserves   1,060  932 
Intangible assets   (1,762)  (1,932) 
Other   -  (163) 

      
   (1,492)  322 

At December 31, 2014, the Company has approximately $3,131 of non-capital losses that may be 
available for deduction against taxable income in future years. These losses expire as follows: 

  $   
     
2029  226   
2030  114   
2031  122   
2032  916   
2033  865   
2034  888   
     
  3,131   
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22. FINANCE COSTS 

The finance costs for the Company are broken down as follows: 

  2014  2013 
  $  $ 

     
Revolving loan facility  3,337  2,975 
Convertible debentures  2,556  2,571 
Promissory note  300  166 
Cash, bank indebtedness  (101)  (13) 

     
Net cash interest  6,092  5,699 
     
Interest expense on net defined benefit pension liability  201  425 
Gain on repurchase of debentures  -  (66) 
Amortization of financing costs  443  532 
     

  6,736  6,590 
 
23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 
Transactions 

The Company has transactions with related parties in the normal course of operations at amounts as 
agreed between the related parties as follows: 

 2014  2013 
 $  $ 
    
Land and building lease payments for distribution facilities paid to a 

company in which a member of the key management personnel who is 
a director and officer of the Company has an interest and lease 
payments for certain treatment plant facilities to a company solely 
controlled by a director and officer of the Company 3,036  2,823 

 
Purchase of product from a public company that a member of the key 

management personnel who is a director and officer of the Company 
has an ownership interest in 3,134  2,960 

 
Fees for management services and other charges paid to a company 

controlled by one of the key management personnel who is also a 
director and officer of the Company 955  739 

    
Fees for professional services and other charges paid to a company 

controlled by an officer of the Company 595  541 
    
Sales to a company controlled by a director of the Company 45  - 
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Commitments with related parties 

The minimum payments under the terms of the leases with companies, in which a member of the key 
management personnel who is also a director and officer of the Company has an interest in, are as 
follows:  

  $   
Year ending December 31     

2015  2,957   
2016  2,839   
2017  2,839   
2018  2,839   
2019  2,554   
Thereafter  1,660   

     
  15,688   

 
Receivable from related parties 
 
As at December 31, 2014, other receivables include an amount due from a member of the key 
management personnel and director of $8 (2013 - $37). 

Payable to related parties 

As at December 31, 2014, trade and other payables include amounts due to related parties as follows: 

 2014  2013 
 $  $ 
 
A public company in which a member of the key management personnel who 

is a director and officer of the Company has an ownership interest in 124  16 
 
A company controlled by one of the key management personnel who is also a 

director and officer of the Company 76  40 
    
A company controlled by an officer of the Company 187  112 
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Compensation of key management personnel 

Compensation of key management is reported on the accrual basis of accounting consistent with the 
amounts recognized on the consolidated statement of earnings. Key management includes the 
Company’s Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, and the Chief Financial 
Officer. Compensation awarded to key management is summarized as follows: 

  2014  2013 
  $  $ 

     
Salaries and other benefits   2,772  2,618 
Share-based compensation  70  63 

     
  2,842  2,681 

 
24. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Lease commitments 

The Company has operating lease commitments as follows: 

a. real estate operating leases with third parties and related parties covering the head office, as well 
as many of the distribution centre properties and treatment plant properties that it operates across 
Canada. 

b. operating leases covering certain vehicles, computer equipment and warehouse equipment. 

Future minimum payments due under the terms of these leases, including those amounts disclosed in 
Note 23, are as follows: 

  $   
Year ending December 31     

2015  11,560   
2016  9,889   
2017  9,406   
2018  8,492   
2019  7,154   
Thereafter  14,328   

     
  60,829   
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Claims 

During the normal course of business, certain product liability and other claims have been brought 
against the Company and, where applicable, its suppliers. While there is inherent difficulty in predicting 
the outcome of such matters, management has vigorously contested the validity of these claims, where 
applicable, and, based on current knowledge, believes that they are without merit and does not expect 
that the outcome of any of these matters, in consideration of insurance coverage maintained, or the 
nature of the claims, individually or in the aggregate, would have a material adverse effect on the 
consolidated financial position, results of operations or future earnings of the Company. 

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

Non-derivative financial instruments 

The carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments were as follows: 

  2014  2013 
         

  

Carrying  
amount 

$  

Fair  
value 

$  

Carrying 
amount 

$  

Fair  
value 

$ 
         

Trade and other receivables  56,456  56,456  47,169  47,169 
         
Bank indebtedness  6,274  6,274  5,978  5,978 
Trade and other payables  39,218  39,218  31,740  31,740 
Dividends payable  4,021  4,021  4,016  4,016 
Revolving loan facility  82,035  82,444  69,047  69,588 
Convertible debentures  42,970  42,702  42,659  36,699 
Promissory note  8,066  8,066  9,666  9,666 
 
The following methods and assumptions were used to determine the estimated fair value of each class 
of financial instrument: 

 The fair value of trade and other receivables, bank indebtedness, trade and other payables, and 
dividends payable is comparable to their carrying amount, given the short maturity periods. 

 The fair value of the Company’s revolving loan facility approximates its carrying value as it bears 
interest at variable rates based on current market rates. The fair value has been estimated as the 
carrying value excluding unamortized financing costs. 

 The fair value of the Company’s convertible debentures is based on the quoted active market 
price at December 31. Management believes the fair value of the conversion feature to be 
insignificant. 

 The fair value of the Company’s promissory note approximates its carrying value as it bears 
interest that approximates current market rates.  
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The revenues and expenses resulting from financial assets and liabilities recorded in net earnings were 
as disclosed in Note 22. 

Derivative financial instruments 

The Company uses derivative financial instruments for economic hedging purposes in managing lumber 
price risk through the use of futures contracts and options. Derivative instruments were designated as 
held for trading with changes in fair value recorded in Other income (loss).  

At December 31, 2014, the Company had no outstanding lumber futures contracts and no lumber 
options (2013 - $953). No change in fair value was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2014 
(2013 – unrealized loss of $21). In addition, a loss of $19 (2013 – gain of $15) was recognized on 
contracts completed during the year. 

These derivative financial instruments are traded through a well-established financial services firm with a 
long history of providing trading, exchange and clearing services for commodities. As trading activities are 
closely monitored and restricted by senior management, including limits for a maximum number of 
outstanding contracts at any point in time, the risk of credit loss on these financial instruments is 
considered low. 

Financial risk management 

The Company’s activities result in exposure to a variety of financial risks, including risks related to 
credit, interest rates, currency and liquidity. 

Financial assets include trade and other receivables. Accounts receivable are measured at amortized 
cost. Financial liabilities include bank indebtedness, trade and other payables, dividends payable, 
revolving loan facility, convertible debentures and promissory note. All financial liabilities are measured 
at amortized cost.  

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk 
management, which seeks to minimize any potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial 
performance. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises primarily from the Company’s trade and other receivables. The Company grants 
credit to its customers in the normal course of operations. To limit its exposure to credit risk, the 
Company performs ongoing evaluations of the credit quality of its customers and follows diligent credit 
granting and collection procedures. Purchase limits are established for each customer and are reviewed 
regularly.  

The Company regularly reviews the collectability of its accounts receivable and establishes an 
allowance for doubtful amounts based on its best estimate of any potentially uncollectible accounts.  
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As at December 31, 2014, the trade accounts receivable were as follows: 

  $   
     
Current  51,237   
Past due over 60 days  45   
     
Trade accounts receivable  51,282   
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts  (133)   
     
  51,149   
 
As at December 31, 2014, the maximum exposure to credit risk is $56,456 (2013 - $47,169), which 
represents the carrying value amount of financial instruments classified as trade and other receivables. 

Interest rate risk 

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk through its variable rate revolving loan facility (Note 14). 
Based on the Company’s average revolving loan facility balance during 2014, the sensitivity of a 1% 
increase in the prime rate would result in an approximate decrease of $744 in net annual earnings. 

Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that changes in market prices of foreign exchanges rates will affect the 
Company’s earnings or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Company is exposed to 
currency risk on the United States dollar component of its revolving loan facility, as well as sales and 
purchase transactions that are denominated in United States dollars. 

As at December 31, 2014, a $0.05 increase in the United States dollar versus the Canadian dollar 
would have an insignificant impact on net earnings. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due or at a reasonable cost. The Company manages liquidity risk by having appropriate credit facilities 
available at all times. In addition, the Company continuously monitors and reviews both actual and 
forecasted cash flows. The Company is exposed to refinancing risks as there can be no assurance that 
the Company will be able to secure credit on the same terms or amount when this facility expires. 
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 
 

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement requires classification of financial instruments within a hierarchy that 
prioritizes the inputs to fair value measurement. 

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

Level 1 –  Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset and liability, either 

directly or indirectly; 
Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 
 

The following table summarizes the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Company’s assets and 
liabilities at December 31, 2014. 
 
  Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
  $ $ $ $ 
      

Financial assets for which fair values are disclosed      
Trade and other receivables  56,456 - - 56,456 
      

Financial liabilities for which fair values are disclosed      
Bank indebtedness  6,274 - 6,274 - 
Trade and other payables  39,218 - - 39,218 
Dividends payable  4,021 - 4,021 - 
Revolving loan facility  82,444 - - 82,444 
Convertible debentures  42,702 42,702 - - 
Promissory note  8,066 - - 8,066 

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
Company determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing 
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

 
27. CHANGES IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL 
 

  2014  2013 
  $  $ 
     

Trade and other receivables  (9,287)  21,631 
Inventories  (12,925)  1,625 
Prepaid expenses  315  745 
Trade and other payables  7,478  (26,144) 
Income taxes payable  2,592  140 

     
  (11,827)  (2,003) 
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28. FOREIGN SALES AND SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS 

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company had sales outside of Canada of $3,122 (2013 
- $3,327). 

The Company has sold products to certain customers who comprise greater than 10% of its sales. 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, three customers individually accounted for sales in excess 
of 10%, purchasing an aggregate of $308,904 (2013 - $319,424, representing three customers). 

29.  SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

The Company has one reportable segment. The percentage of total revenues from external customers 
from product groups and geographic regions is as follows: 

Revenue by product group 

  2014  2013 
  %  % 
     
Construction materials  58  56 
Specialty and allied  42  44 
     
  100  100 
 
Revenue by geographic region 

  2014  2013 
  %  % 
     
B.C.  15  15 
Prairies  27  28 
Ontario  28  26 
Quebec  16  16 
Atlantic  14  15 
     
  100  100 
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30. CAPITAL DISCLOSURES 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going 
concern, so that it can continue to provide dividends to shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders. The Company includes debt and equity, comprising shareholders’ capital, contributed 
surplus, deficit and cumulative dividends on shares, in the definition of capital. 

The Company seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with the 
leverage afforded by higher borrowing levels and the security afforded by a sound capital structure. It 
does this by maintaining appropriate debt levels in relation to its working capital and other assets in 
order to provide the maximum dividends to shareholders commensurate with the level of risk. Also, the 
Company utilizes its debt capabilities to buy back shares, where appropriate, in order to maximize cash 
distribution rates for remaining shareholders. 

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 
economic conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the 
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, repurchase shares or debentures in the market, issue new 
shares, or sell assets to reduce debt. 

The Company’s policy is to dividend all available cash from operations to shareholders after provision 
for cash required for maintenance of capital expenditures and other reserves considered advisable by 
the Company’s directors. The Company has eliminated the impact of seasonal fluctuations by 
equalizing quarterly dividends. 

There are no externally imposed capital requirements and the Company’s loan agreements do not 
contain any capital maintenance covenants. 

There were no changes to the Company’s approach to capital management during the current year.  
 
31. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the financial statement presentation 
adopted in the current year. 
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